Page 1 of 37

FILED 09-14-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

Filed 09-14-2022

STATE OF WISCONSIN **COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III**

Appeal No. 2022-AP-1233 Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CV-712

Wisconsin Property Taxpayers, Inc.,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Town of Buchanan,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDER AND JUDGMENT DATED JUNE 27, 2022, OF THE OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NO. 2021-CV-712, THE HONORABLE MARK J. MCGINNIS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT – APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues in this case arise from the statutory authorization in Section 66.0827 Wis. Stats., for a town to establish a "utility district" to pay the cost of "district highways, sewers, sidewalks, and street lighting", not paid for by special assessments, from a "fund" provided by "taxation of property in the district." The issues presented are as follows:

1. Is the "district fund" authorized by Section 66.0827(2) simply an alternative revenue source to pay for a previously provided "service" funded by the general property tax levy that requires an equivalent reduction in the general property tax levy under Section 66.0602(3) Wis. Stats?

The trial court answered, yes.

2. Is the authorized "taxation of property in the district" a general property tax subject to the statutory general property tax levy limit and subject to the constitutional rule of uniformity (ad valorem – based on property value)?

The trial court did not answer.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

This case involves the interplay of multiple statutory taxation provisions and current as well as historical legal concepts of municipal revenue through taxation. Oral argument could provide guidance to the Court in its analysis.

The Court's decision should be published. The issue of whether the public improvements set forth under Section 66.0827 Wis. Stats. are "services" contemplated by Section 66.0602(3)(a) Wis. Stats. is one of first impression in the State. The issue of whether the "taxation of the property in the

Filed 09-14-2022

district" as authorized by Section 66.0827(2) Wis. Stats., is simply a general property tax subject to the statutory levy limits and constitutional requirement of uniformity is likewise one of first impression in the State.

Moreover, there is statewide interest in the outcome of this case. Wisconsin municipalities are now facing substantial increases in public improvement construction costs but limited revenue sources because of tax levy limits and limited State shared revenue. It is publicly reported that many municipalities considering alternative revenue sources such as transportation utility fee or tax (commonly referred to as a TUF). Greendale, Appleton, Hudson, Oshkosh, Tomahawk and Wauwatosa are among the municipalities reported to be considering a "transportation utility fee".

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case came before the trial court on a Joint Stipulation of Facts (Rec. 19; App., pp. 031-173). If the facts are stipulated, only a question of law remains. Lewis v. Physicians Ins. Co., 2001 WI 60, ¶9, 243 Wis. 2d 648, 627 N.W.2d 484.

The interpretation of a statute, in this case, Sections 66.0827 and 66.0602 Wis. Stats., is a question of law. Honthaners Restaurants, Inc. v. LIRC, 2000 WI App. 273 ¶10, 240 Wis. 2d 234, 621 N.W.2d 660. Application of a statute to a particular set of facts is a question of law. State v. Piddington, 2001 WI 24, ¶13, 241 Wis. 2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528.

An appellate court is not bound by a trial court's conclusion of law and decides the matter de novo. An appellate

Filed 09-14-2022

court must decide questions of law independently, without deference to the decision of the circuit court. State v. Vanmanivong, 2003 WI 41, ¶17, 261 Wis. 2d 202, 661 N.W.2d 76.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Case Summary

This case requires the Court to determine whether road reconstruction is a "service" within the meaning of Section 66.0602(3)(a) Wis. Stats., on levy limits. If not it requires the Court to determine whether the authorized "taxation of property" within the meaning of Section 66.0827 on utility districts is a general property tax or a special tax similar in nature to a special assessment which is not subject to levy limits.

The Town of Buchanan ("Town") adopted an ordinance establishing a "Transportation Utility District" under authority conferred by Section 66.0827 Wis. Stats. (Rec. 19, pp 3-7; App., pp. 033-037). The District was created to fund road reconstruction as authorized by Section 66.0827(2). The cost of road reconstruction would come from a "district fund" provided by "taxation of the property in the district." The Town created an annual tax/fee for each developed property based on the estimated number of vehicle trips generated by that property. (Rec. 19, pp. 8-9; App., pp. 38-39). The tax/fee raises approximately \$875,000. (Rec. 19, p. 8; App., 038).

Wisconsin Property Taxpayers, Inc. (WPT) sought declaratory judgment that the district tax/fee was a general

Filed 09-14-2022

property tax subject to the general property tax levy limits and that the revenue generated by the District tax exceeded the Town's levy limit. WPT also argued that the district tax violated the constitutional uniformity requirement – all property taxes must be based on property value.

The case came before the trial court on motions for summary judgment by each party. Background facts came before the Outagamie County trial Court on a Joint Stipulation by the parties. (Rec. pp. 1-143; App., 031-173). A hearing was held on June 6, 2022. The trial court made a decision from the bench. An Order Granting Summary Judgment for the Plaintiff (WPT) was entered on June 27, 2022. (Rec. 29, pp. 1-27; App. 004 - 030).

The trial court held that the District transportation tax/fee was a transfer of responsibility for providing a "service" that the Town itself previously provided. Therefore, the general property tax levy limit should decrease to reflect the cost that the Town would have otherwise incurred to provide that service. The Town exceeded its levy limit. The trial court relied on Section 66.0602(3)(a) Wis. Stats. (R. 29, p. 22; App., p. 027). The trial court did not determine whether the district transportation utility tax/fee was a general property tax.

The Town disagrees that road construction is a "service" subject to Section 66.0602(3)(a). The Town claims the district utility tax/fee is akin to special assessments which are not subject to levy limits or levy offsets. The Town filed its Notice of Appeal on July 21, 2022.

Page 10 of 37

B. Background

The Town of Buchanan ("Town") is located adjacent to the City of Appleton on the east side. The Town has a current population of approximately 8,000. Between 1980 and 1990, the population increased by 42 percent and between 1990 and 2000 it increased by 134 percent. These dramatic increases were attributable to the opening of USH 441 and the creation of a sanitary district. (Rec. 19, pp. 141 – 143; App., pp. 171 – 173). Over the last 10 years, population growth has been minimal. *Id*.

The Town has 46 miles of road. Most roads have a rural cross-section two lanes of travel, gravel shoulders and open roadside ditches for drainage. Under the State Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating System, 24 miles are rated Fair to Very Poor. Within the next 10 years, 44 percent or 21 miles will have pavement that is 25 years or older. Pavement life is typically 25 years. The growth spurt of the 1990's resulted in many Town roads needing reconstruction at the same time. (Rec. 19, pp. 14 – 16, 35; App., pp. 044 – 046, 065).

A major part of the Town road condition problems are drainage related. The Town has flat topography. The road ditch grades are, for the most part, less than one percent and inadequate to convey stormwater in roadside ditches. The flooded roads result in more rapid deterioration. Drainage problems are pervasive and persistent. *Id*.

The Town adopted a policy of road reconstruction with an urban cross-section two lanes of travel with a storm sewer, curb and gutter and sidewalks. An urban cross-section is substantially more costly but much safer and effective for storm water management.

The Town has long financed road reconstruction on a "pay as you go" basis using funds from the general property tax levy along with state aids and grants. (Rec. 19, pp. 15 - 19; App., pp. 045 - 049). However, under state law, the Town is only able to increase the general tax levy by annual net new construction. (Section 66.0602(1) and (2) Wis. Stats.). Over the last five years, annual net construction value has been approximately 1.11 percent. Thus, the Town is limited to increasing the tax levy by slightly over one percent. (Rec. 19, pp. 17 - 19; App., pp. 047 - 049).

The levy limit and state aids have not kept up with road reconstruction costs and needs. A "pay as you go basis" is no longer possible. The Town is at its levy limit.

The Town prepared a Transportation System Financing Approach Report that was completed in 2019. Financing alternatives were considered including special assessing properties for road reconstruction; increasing the general tax levy limit by referendum; and adopting a transportation utility fee. (Rec. 19, pp. 10 - 40; App., pp. 040 - 070). The Report identified that an additional 1.25 million dollars in financing was needed annually to catch up with road reconstruction needs. *Id*.

After a series of public meetings and discussions, on April 2, 2019, the Town held a referendum to determine which of the three financing alternatives for road reconstruction was favored by Town residents. The question was as follows:

Should the Town of Buchanan rely principally on Special Assessments, a Transportation Utility Fee, or a Property Tax Levy increase to supplement the cost of street improvements projects?

Explanatory Statement and Effect of Vote:

If you answer "Special Assessments" to this question, you are indicating that you support the implementation of a Special Assessment Policy, where benefitting property owners in a project area are special assessed a portion of the cost for a street improvement project.

If you answer "Transportation Utility Fee" to this question, you are indicating that you support the establishment of a Transportation Utility, where all Town property owners are charged an annual fee based on an estimated number of trips generated to supplement the cost for street improvement projects.

If you answer "Property Tax Levy Increase" to this question, you are indicating that you support the increase of the Property Tax Levy, where all property owners would see an increase in their Town taxes to supplement the cost of street improvement projects.

The results of the referendum were 296 votes for special assessments; 899 votes for a transportation utility fee; and 379 votes for a property tax levy increase. The votes for a transportation utility fee were more than the votes for special assessments and tax levy increase combined. (Rec. 19, pp. 38 - 39; App., pp. 068 - 069).

On December 12, 2019, the Town Board adopted an Ordinance establishing a Transportation Utility District. Also on December 12, 2019, the Town Board adopted a resolution establishing the amount to be funded, a formula for calculating fees by land use category for all developed property, and a fee schedule for all developed property for 2019. (Rec. 19, pp. 3-9; App., pp. 033 - 039).

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

1. Section 66.0827 Wis. Stats. <u>Utility Districts</u>.

Section 60.23 Wis. Stats., enumerates miscellaneous powers of a town board. Section 60.23(2) provides that a town board may: "Establish utility districts under s. 66.0827 and provide that any convenience or public improvement in the district be paid for under that section."

Section 66.0827 provides in relevant part as follows:

Utility districts. (1) Towns, villages and 3rd and 4th class cities may establish utility districts.

- (a) In villages and 3rd and 4th class cities, the village board or common council <u>may direct that the cost of utility district highways, sewers, sidewalks,</u> street lighting and water for fire protection <u>not paid for by special assessment be paid out of the district fund under sub. (2).</u> The cost of bridges in the district may not be paid out of the district fund. (Emphasis added).
- (b) In towns, the town board may direct that the cost of any convenience or public improvement provided in the district and not paid for by special assessment be paid from the district fund under sub. (2).
- (2) The fund of each utility district shall be provided by taxation of the property in the district, upon an annual estimate by the department in charge of public works in cities and villages, and by the town chairperson in towns, filed by October 1. Separate account shall be kept of each district fund. (Emphasis Added)
- (3) In towns a majority vote and in villages and cities a three-fourths vote of all the members of the governing body is required to establish, vacate, alter or consolidate a utility district. (Emphasis Added)
- (4) Before the vote is effective to establish, vacate, alter or consolidate a utility district, a hearing shall be held as provided in s. 66.0703(7)(a). In towns the notice may be given by posting in 3 public places in the town, one of which shall be in the proposed district, at least 2 weeks prior to the hearing.

(Subsection (5) and (6) are omitted as they relate to an optional dissolution of a sanitary district and municipal consolidation.)

2. Section 66.0602 Wis. Stats. Local Levy Limits.

• • • •

- (1)(d) "Valuation factor" means a percentage equal to or greater of either the percentage change in the political subdivision's January 1 equalized value due to new construction less improvements removed between the previous year and the current or zero percent.
- (2)(a) LEVY LIMIT. (a) Except as provided in subs. (3), (4) and (5), no political subdivision may increase its levy in any year by a percentage that exceeds the political subdivision's valuation factor. . .
- (2m)(b) 1. In this paragraph, "covered service" means garbage collection, fire protection, snow plowing, street sweeping, or storm water management, except that garbage collection may not be a covered service for any political subdivision that owned and operated a landfill on January 1, 2013. With regard to fire protection, "covered service" does not include the production, storage, transmission, sale and delivery, or furnishing of water for public fire protection purposes.
- 2. Except as provided in subd. 4., if a political subdivision receives revenues that are designated to pay for a covered service that was funded in 2013 by the levy of the political subdivision, the political subdivision shall reduce its levy limit in the current year by an amount equal to the estimated amount of fee revenue collected for providing the covered service, less any previous reductions made under this subdivision, not to exceed the amount funded in 2013 by the levy of the political subdivision.
- 3. Except as provided in subd. 4., if a political subdivision receives payments in lieu of taxes that are designated to pay for a covered service that was funded in 2013 by the levy of the political subdivision, the political subdivision shall reduce its levy limit in the current year by the estimated amount of payments in lieu of taxes received by the political subdivision to pay for the covered service, less any previous reductions made under this subdivision, not to exceed the amount funded in 2013 by the levy of the political subdivision.

(3) EXCEPTIONS. (a) If a political subdivision transfers to another governmental unit responsibility for providing any service that the political subdivision provided in the preceding year, the levy increase limit otherwise applicable under this section to the political subdivision in the current year is decreased to reflect the cost that the political subdivision would have incurred to provide that service, as determined by the department of revenue. (Emphasis Added)

3. Section 66.0703 Wis. Stats. Special Assessments.

Section 66.0703 provides in relevant part as follows:

(1) (a) Except as provided in s. 66.0721, as a complete alternative to all other methods provided by law, any city, town or village may, by resolution of its governing body, levy and collect special assessments upon property in a limited and determinable area for special benefits conferred upon the property by any municipal work or improvement; and may provide for the payment of all or any part of the cost of the work or improvement out of the proceeds of the special assessments. (Emphasis Added)

4. Town of Buchanan Utility District Ordinance

Relevant provisions of the Town Ordinance establishing a Transportation Utility District are set forth below. (The Ordinance is codified in the Town Municipal Code as Chapter 482). (Rec. 19, pp. 3-7; App., 033-037).

§ 482-1 Findings, authority and applicability.

A. The Town of Buchanan Town Board finds that the timely maintenance and reconstruction of the Town's transportation system to ensure safe and efficient travel throughout the Town is a fundamental Town responsibility. A structurally sound and well-maintained transportation system enhances livability, property values and the economic vitality of the entire Town. Further, the Town Board finds that a community-wide Transportation Utility District applicable to all developed properties, paid annually to a specially designated account for transportation system maintenance and improvement, is an equitable and less-burdensome approach to financing transportation system maintenance and improvements in the Town.

Filed 09-14-2022

- B. In order to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, the Town Board is exercising its authority to establish a Transportation Utility District and implement a transportation utility fee. The Town is acting under authority of §66.0827 and §§66.0621, 66.0807, 66.0811 and 66.0813, Wis. Stats., as they may apply.
- C. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all developed property located within the Town of Buchanan, including, without limitation, all property owned by local, state, and federal governments, nonprofit organizations and all other property whether subject to real property taxes or exempt therefrom.

§ 482-2 Definitions.

As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

<u>DEVELOPED PROPERTY OR IMPROVED</u> PREMISES

Properties containing a developed principal use or principal structure.

RESPONSIBLE PARTY

The record owner of the property shall be the responsible party for the payment of the transportation utility fee.

§ 482-3 Transportation Utility District.

A. The Town of Buchanan is hereby establishing a Transportation Utility District. The operation of the Transportation Utility District shall be under the day-to-day management of the Town Administrator and under the supervision of the Town Board. He/she, or a designated representative, shall provide an annual estimate to the Town Chairperson by October 1 of each year.

B. The Town, acting through the Transportation Utility District, may, without limitation due to enumeration, acquire, construct, lease, own, operate, maintain, extend, expand, replace, repair, manage and finance such transportation facilities and related facilities, operations and activities, as are deemed by the Town to be proper and reasonably necessary to provide safe and efficient transportation facilities within the Town. The following

activities to be funded by the transportation utility fee are the cost of utility district highways, stormwater management, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic control and the cost of any other convenience or public improvement provided in the District and not paid in full by special assessment.

§ 482-4 Establishment of transportation utility fee.

A. Every developed property within the Town of Buchanan shall pay a transportation utility fee.

B. The Town Board shall by resolution determine the annual amount to be funded by a transportation utility fee, formulas for the calculation of the fee and specific use category classifications. Changes in formulas and classifications may be made by further resolution of the Town Board. All fees established pursuant to this section shall be fair and reasonable. A schedule of current fees shall be maintained and on file in the office of the Town Clerk.

C. Special assessment. Separate and in addition to any fees charged under this chapter, a special assessment may be imposed on property that is specially benefited by a particular transportation project or facility. This charge will be developed to reflect the benefits in a particular area that may not be appropriate to allocate to property throughout the Town and shall follow the special assessment processes defined within Chapter 10 and the relevant provisions of the Wisconsin State Statutes.

§ 482-5 Establishment of Transportation Utility District Fund.

A. All funds collected by the Town from a transportation utility fee shall be deposited into a Transportation Utility District Fund ("fund"), which is hereby created as an established enterprise fund in the Town budget. Such revenues shall be used exclusively for the transportation system purposes described wherein. Any excess of revenues over expenditures in a year will be retained by the fund for subsequent years' needs.

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