Filed 10-14-2022

Page 1 of 29

FILED 10-14-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

No. 2022AP1233

In the Wisconsin Court of Appeals

DISTRICT III

WISCONSIN PROPERTY TAXPAYERS, INC., PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

TOWN OF BUCHANAN, **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Outagamie County Circuit Court, The Honorable Mark J. McGinnis, Presiding, Case No. 2021CV712

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

WISCONSIN INSTITUTE FOR LAW & LIBERTY, INC.

RICHARD M. ESENBERG LUKE N. BERG LUCAS T. VEBBER 330 E. Kilbourn Ave., Ste. 725 Milwaukee, WI 53202 Phone: (414) 727-9455

Facsimile: (414) 727-6385

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

To justify this tax, Buchanan argues that its TUF is a lawful property tax under Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, but *not* a property tax for purposes of levy limits and the Uniformity Clause. Buchanan does not

get to have it both ways. Buchanan's TUF not only is not authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, it also plainly violates both statutory levy limits and the Uniformity Clause.

I. No Statute Authorizes Municipalities to Impose a "Transportation Utility Fee"

"[T]owns are quasi municipal corporations with very limited powers." Werner v. Indus. Comm'n, 212 Wis. 76, 248 N.W. 793, 794 (1933). "A town is a creature of the legislature, having only the powers delegated to it by statute." Town of Clayton v. Cardinal Const. Co., 2009 WI App 54, ¶ 9, 317 Wis. 2d 424, 767 N.W.2d 605.

Municipalities in Wisconsin have "no inherent power to tax," and "may only enact the types of taxes authorized by the legislature." *Blue Top Motel, Inc. v. City of Stevens Point*, 107 Wis. 2d 392, 395, 320 N.W.2d 172 (1982). Taxes "cannot be imposed without clear and express" authorization, and "where ambiguity and doubt exist, it must be resolved in favor of the person upon whom it is sought to impose the tax." *City of Plymouth v. Elsner*, 28 Wis. 2d 102, 106, 135 N.W.2d 799 (1965).

In City of Plymouth v. Elsner, 28 Wis. 2d 102, 107, the Supreme Court considered the legality of a tax on electrical service meters in the City of Plymouth. The City of Plymouth imposed a monthly charge for each "electrical service meter" (\$.50/month for residential and \$1.00/month for commercial) to "provide funds for the industrial expansion and growth of industry and new industries in the City of Plymouth." The Court had "no hesitancy in holding that [the] city was without any constitutional or statutory authority to levy th[is] tax," even though it was unclear how to characterize it (whether as "a property tax [or] an excise tax"). 28 Wis. 2d at 104, 107. Regardless of characterization, the Court found "no constitutional or statutory provision which authorizes a city to levy an excise tax to be added to the

amounts payable for charges imposed for a public utility service such as electricity." *Id.* at 106.

The same is true here. There is *no* state statute that authorizes municipalities to impose a "transportation utility fee" (which, despite the name, Buchanan concedes "is really a taxation of property," Br. 21). The Court will not find the phrase "transportation utility fee" anywhere in the statutes. Nor will it find any statute that authorizes a tax against all properties for their estimated or predicted use of the roads. Buchanan's theory is that its TUF qualifies as a "taxation of property" authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, but its square peg does not fit the round hole, for multiple reasons.

First, Buchanan's TUF does not fit under § 66.0827 because it is not a traditional property tax. Section 66.0827 authorizes the "taxation of the property in the district" (i.e., property taxes), to finance a utility district fund, *not* a tax based on each property's estimated or predicted use of the road system. As outlined in detail below in the section on the Uniformity Clause, Wisconsin courts have long recognized that property taxes are, by definition, based on market value. *Infra* Part III; *e.g.*, *Telemark Dev.*, *Inc.* v. *Dep't of Revenue*, 218 Wis. 2d 809, 825, 581 N.W.2d 585 (Ct. App. 1998) ("The [uniformity] clause [] is limited to property taxes—recurring ad valorem taxes on property.").

Moreover, Chapter 70 of the Wisconsin Statutes sets forth the exclusive process for taxing real property. Section 70.01 provides that "taxes shall be levied, *under this chapter*, upon all general property in this state except property that is exempt from taxation." And § 70.05(1) further requires that "the assessment of general property for taxation in all the towns, cities and villages of this state shall be made according to this chapter unless otherwise specifically provided," *id.* § 70.05(1). Nothing in § 66.0827 "specifically provide[s]" a different method for taxing property within a utility district. Thus, the "taxation of property"

under § 66.0827 must be value based and follow the process under ch. 70. It is undisputed that Buchanan's TUF does neither.

Second, and relatedly, Buchanan's TUF applies to "all developed property located within the Town of Buchanan, including, without limitation, all property owned by local, state, and federal governments, nonprofit organizations and all other property whether subject to real property taxes or exempt therefrom." Buchanan Ordinances § 482-1(C). Buchanan cannot, on the one hand, assert that its TUF is "really a taxation of property," Br. 21, but then, on the other hand, charge it to properties that are exempt from property taxes. That Buchanan charges tax-exempt properties illustrates that its tax, however characterized, does not fit as a property tax authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827.

Third, even if Buchanan's TUF could be characterized as the kind of property tax authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, a "utility district" under this section is not intended to encompass an entire municipality. Subsection (6), which describes what happens to utility districts when two municipalities merge, distinguishes between services provided "on a municipality-wide basis rather than on a utility district basis," indicating that a utility district is meant for something smaller than a "municipality-wide" area. Buchanan's ordinance creates a utility district that covers the entire "Town of Buchanan," Buchanan Ordinances § 482-3, and includes "[e]very developed property within the Town," id. § 482-4, which again, is not what § 66.0827 contemplates.

For all these reasons, Buchanan's TUF does not fit as a "taxation of property" authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, and there is no other statute that empowers municipalities to adopt a "transportation utility fee" or tax properties for their estimated or predicted use of the road system. To the extent there is any ambiguity, it must be resolved *against*

Buchanan, given that Buchanan concedes its TUF is really a tax. *City of Plymouth*, 28 Wis. 2d at 106.²

II. Buchanan's TUF Violates the Town's Levy Limit.

Wisconsin's levy limit statute, Wis. Stat. § 66.0602, places strict limits on property tax increases, to protect taxpayers from everincreasing taxes. *Brown Cty. v. Brown Cty. Taxpayers Ass'n*, 2022 WI 13, ¶ 23, 400 Wis. 2d 781, 971 N.W.2d 491 ("Section 66.0602 ... limit[s] [] the amount a governmental subdivision may increase its property tax levy in a given year."). Levy limits apply broadly to a "political subdivision's" total "levy" against property within its jurisdiction. Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(1). Indeed, the widely-recognized purpose of the levy limit statute was to "freeze property taxes." *See* Governor Jim Doyle's Partial Veto Message on 2005 Wis. Act 25, at 71–73 (July 25, 2005)³; *Brown Cty.*, 2022 WI 13, ¶ 23. There is a long list of exclusions and adjustments to a municipality's levy limit, Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(3)(a)–(n)—including, for example, money raised for and spent on schools, libraries, and bridges, *id.* § 66.0602(3)(e)—but there is no exception either for roads generally or for property taxes under § 66.0827. A town

² Although the Circuit Court concluded that Buchanan's TUF could fit under Wis. Stat. § 66.0827, App. 24–25, this Court can "affirm the circuit court on an alternative ground as long as the record is adequate and the parties have the opportunity to brief the issue on appeal." *E.g.*, *Glendenning's Limestone & Ready-Mix Co. v. Reimer*, 2006 WI App 161, ¶ 14, 295 Wis. 2d 556, 721 N.W.2d 704. And "a party that prevails in the trial court need not file a cross-appeal to preserve for review an alternative ground to affirm." *B & D Contractors, Inc. v. Arwin Window Sys.*, *Inc.*, 2006 WI App 123 ¶ 4 n.3, 294 Wis. 2d 378, 718 N.W.2d 256. WPT argued below that there is no statutory authority for Buchanan's TUF and that Wis. Stat. § 66.0827 does not fit, R. 18:5–8, :13, 21:1–2; App. 7–8, and this case was submitted on jointly stipulated facts, so these are purely legal issues that this Court can resolve on appeal.

³ Available at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2005/related/veto_messages/2005 _wisconsin_act_25_details.pdf (linked from https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2005/proposals/ab100).

can increase property taxes beyond its levy limit, but it must seek permission from its residents via a referendum process. Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(4).

According to its filings with the Department of Revenue, Buchanan is and has been at its levy limit of roughly \$2.4 million, *supra* p. 9, yet it is charging property owners in Buchanan an additional \$850,000 through its TUF, exceeding its levy limit by over 33%, App. 142. Buchanan did not go through the referendum process as required by Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(4). R. 2, ¶ 42; 5, ¶ 42 (denying only that "§ 66.0602(4) applies").

Importantly, a "utility district" created under Wis. Stat. § 66.0827 is not a separate entity with independent authority to levy taxes and its own separate levy limit, as Buchanan concedes. Br. 32 ("A utility district is not a 'taxation district."). The levy limit statute applies to "political subdivisions" of the state, a defined term that covers only cities, villages, towns, and counties. Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(1)(c). The levy limit statute also references "taxation districts," see id. § 66.0602(6m)(b), a term that is defined elsewhere to include only political subdivisions like towns, villages, and cites, Wis. Stat. § 70.045; Br. 32.

The exceptions in the levy limit statute illustrate that taxes imposed on various types of districts within a "political subdivision," like a town, are generally included in the town's levy limit, unless there is an exception. For example, there are special rules in the levy limit statute for "tax incremental district[s]," Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(3)(dm), (ds), and for "joint emergency medical services district[s]," id. § 66.0602(3)(h).

The Legislature has also created levy limit exceptions for other types of "districts" in other statutes, further reinforcing the point that levy limits apply broadly to all property taxes within a "political subdivision." Chapter 200, for example, authorizes the creation of

"metropolitan sewerage districts" and provides for financing such districts through a "tax upon the taxable property in the district." Wis. Stat. §§ 200.13(2); 200.55(6). But, unlike for § 66.0827, the Legislature expressly provided that this tax "shall not be included within any limitation on county or municipality taxes." Wis. Stat. §§ 200.13(2); 200.55(6)(b) ("This proportionate amount of the tax is not subject to any limitation on county, city, village or town taxes."). There is no such exclusion in § 66.0827.

Buchanan argues that the "taxation of property" authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827 is a special kind of tax that is not subject to the levy limit statute, Br. 30–35, but Buchanan cites nothing to support the idea that there are different kinds of property taxes, some of which are not subject to the levy limit, nor does it cite any case holding that the property tax referenced in § 66.0827 is not subject to the levy limit statute. And, as just noted, the levy limit statute contains a long list of exceptions, Wis. Stat. § 66.0602 (3)(a)–(n), and there is no exception for § 66.0827.

Section 66.0827's reference to "taxation of property" should not be interpreted as a different kind of property tax, but instead as authorizing a municipality to use ordinary property taxes to fund improvements in a utility district. As noted above, multiple portions of chapter 70 indicate that it is the exclusive means for taxing real property, unless there is an explicit, alternate process elsewhere. Wis. Stat. § 70.01, for example, provides that "taxes shall be levied, under this chapter, upon all general property in this state except property that is exempt from taxation," and § 70.05(1) further requires that "the assessment of general property for taxation in all the towns, cities and villages of this state shall be made according to this chapter unless otherwise specifically provided," *id.* § 70.05(1). Nothing in § 66.0827 "specifically provide[s]" a different method for taxing property within a utility district. Thus, the "taxation

of property" under § 66.0827 is just a general property tax subject to the levy limits.

But even if the property tax authorized by Wis. Stat. § 66.0827 were classified as a separate kind of property tax from the general property tax under Chapter 70, it is clear that the levy limit statute would still apply to it. The exception for the bridge-repair tax proves the point. The bridge-repair tax is authorized in a separate statute, Wis. Stat. § 82.08(2), yet the levy limit statute contains an express exemption for it in subsection (3)(e)3. This exception would be unnecessary if levy limits only applied to general property taxes under Chapter 70.

As noted above, the widely-recognized purpose of levy limits was to "freeze property taxes." It would be strange indeed if § 66.0827's passing reference to "taxation of property" were interpreted as an entirely different kind of property tax that the Legislature somehow missed when it adopted levy limits. Those limits would be eviscerated if towns could simply create a town-wide "utility district" and pay for any "public improvement" using an alternate property tax not subject to the levy limit. Moreover, it would eliminate the important procedural requirement that municipalities must get approval *from their voters* through the referendum process in § 66.0602(4) before raising taxes beyond those limits.

Buchanan's reference to the definition of "special taxes" in Chapter 74 also does not help its case. Br. 33–35. Buchanan cites no authority for the proposition that the property tax authorized in § 66.0827(2) is a "special tax," rather than a "general property tax" or "tax[] on real property," and multiple provisions in Chapter 74 suggest it would fit the latter category. See Wis. Stat. § 74.01(1) (defining "general property taxes" as "taxes levied upon general property ... and measured by the property's value."); § 74.11(2) (providing the process by which "[a]ll taxes on real property ... shall be paid."). But even if a tax under § 66.0827

were categorized as a "special tax," Buchanan cites nothing in chapter 74 (or anywhere else) indicating that a "special tax" that is also a "taxation of property" (as it must be if under § 66.0827) would not be subject to a political subdivision's levy limit.

Buchanan also focuses heavily on Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(3) and seems to believe that this entire case hinges on whether or not road construction is a "service" under Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(3)(a). Br. 23–25. But Buchanan misunderstands WPT's arguments and the Circuit Court's reasoning. WPT argued below, as here, that the long list of exceptions proves that the levy limit statute applies beyond just general property taxes, but also to any type of taxation on property imposed by a political subdivision. App. 10–12, 20–21; R. 24:1–4. Echoing those arguments, the Circuit Court emphasized that, although the legislature empowered municipalities "to create property taxes for specific areas of concern under Chapter 61 and 66," the Legislature "has also specified that the imposition of any of these other types of taxes reduces the municipalities['] levy limit for the general property taxes." App. 26–27. The Court cited Wis. Stat. § 66.0602(3) as an example, and then concluded that, while Buchanan "can create the utility district" and "impose a transportation utility fee," "that fee cannot be a mechanism to exceed the Town of Buchanan's levy limit." App. 27. If there were any doubt, the Court also summarized this conclusion earlier in its remarks: "That leaves us then with whether or not the imposition and collection of that transportation utility fee is in excess of the levy limit, and I'm going to conclude that it does." App. 25.

Buchanan admits that it is the taxing jurisdiction that is imposing its TUF, Br. 32, and that its TUF "is really a taxation of property," Br. 21. That is all that matters. Thus, the revenue generated by its TUF counts against its levy limit, and it has exceeded that limit by the entire amount of its TUF.

III. Buchanan's TUF Violates the Uniformity Clause

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